No. 328660-III

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS - DIVISION THREE OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON, Respondent

٧.

DANIEL BLIZZARD, Appellant

APPELLANT'S AMENDED OPENING BRIEF

Peter Mazzone, WSBA 25262 Attorney for Appellant 3002 Colby Avenue, Suite 302 (425) 259-4989 -phone (425) 259-5994 - fax

Peter Connick, WSBA 12560 Attorney for Appellant 80 Yesler Way # 320, Seattle, WA 98104 (206) 624-5958 - phone

I. STATEMENT OF CASE

A. SUBSTANTIVE FACTS

1. The Allegations

Daniel Blizzard was charged with attempted first degree murder and first degree assault on September 18, 2013. CP 14-15. Those charges were revised by amended information on January 30, 2014, following the death of the victim, to a single count of premeditated murder in the first degree. The amended information also included the aggravating factors of deliberate cruelty to the victim, and particular vulnerability of the victim. CP 37-38.

The State summarized its case in its *Determination of Probable Cause.* CP 3-12. According to that document, the assault of Mr. Holbrook, a 78 year old real estate broker, occurred on May 25, 2013 when he was found in a pool of blood in a vacant house near Cowiche, a house he was reportedly showing a couple. He was severely beaten, suffered multiple skull fractures and had his throat cut. CP 4. Two days later, Luis Gomez-Monges, 38, and Adriana Mendez, 23, were arrested in connection with the assault. They were held in the Yakima County jail awaiting trial on first-degree attempted murder charges. CP 6-7.

Mendez reportedly said that she went to the house showing with Gomez-Monges and her children. While there she saw Gomez-Monges

hit Holbrook in the head as she was leaving the house to check on the children who had remained in the car. CP 6. Within a few minutes Gomez-Monges quickly left the house, they both got into the car, and Gomez-Monges began driving fast toward Yakima to drop Mendez off at the motel where she was staying. She said he was breathing heavy, turned the radio up loud, and appeared to have thrown something out of the car while driving. CP 6. Gomez-Monges reportedly told investigators that he only contacted Holbrook about selling his mother's mobile home, but said he had not viewed any homes. CP 7.

Mr. Blizzard was a former business associate of the victim, Vern Holbrook. CP 5. The two had negotiated a deal for the sale of Holbrook's real estate business, Aspen Real Estate. CP 7. That deal, included Mr. Blizzard and his two brothers buying Aspen Real Estate from Mr. Holbrook and setting up a new company, Aspen Blizzard. CP 7. Under the sale agreement, Mr. Holbrook would remain an employee and manage the realty while Aspen Blizzard would purchase a \$1.58 million life insurance policy on Holbrook as part of the business deal. CP 7-8. The deal initially went forward, but less than a year later, fell through.

The reason for the failed venture, as summarized in the Determination of Probable Cause was due to the failure of Aspen Blizzard to pay Mr. Holbrook for the purchase of the company while at the same time continuing to pay the life insurance premiums on the Holbrook policy. CP 7. As a result, Mr. Holbrook took the business back from Aspen Blizzard. Aspen Blizzard in turn filed a civil lawsuit against Holbrook, and continued to maintain a life insurance policy on him. CP 7; VPR 2309.

The State alleged that Blizzard was upset about his failed effort to buy Aspen Real Estate from Holbrook and, as a result, conspired with a female acquaintance, Mr. Holbrook's former daughter in law Jill Taylor, who introduced him to Gomez-Monges and Mendez, to kill him. CP 10. The corroborating evidence for the State's theory regarding Blizzard's involvement, according to the Determination of Probable Cause, consisted of the following: 1) Adriana Mendez was friends with Blizzard; 2) Mendez and Blizzard had exchanged text messages the day before, and the day of, the attack on Mr. Holbrook; 3) Adriana Mendez was friends with Jill Taylor; 4) Jill Taylor was also friends with, and possibly romantically involved with, Blizzard; 5) Nicky Vargas, an acquaintance of Jill Taylor had stated that she had heard Taylor planning Holbrook's death in detail; and 6) Nicky Vargas had heard both Jill Taylor and Blizzard say that Blizzard was willing to pay someone to kill Holbrook. CP 8-11. The May 24, 2015 and May 25, 2015 text messages between Blizzard and Mendez, as summarized in the *Determination of Probable Cause*, consisted of the following:

05-24 1610 hrs Adrianna: "if we get to go shoping today we wont see each other til thn right?"

1611 hrs Daniel: "Yea"

1611 hrs Adriana: "u wont give me money to go shopping til we r able to go right"

1612 hrs Daniel: "Exactly"

1612 hrs Adriana: "thn never mind"

1613 hrs Daniel: "Y, what u thinking?"

1617 hrs Adriana: "no is just cuz Jason at the front office came looking for me whn we were gon to ask me for the rent cuz his uncle told him that anybody without at least ½ the rent are getting kicked out today and if they had at least ½ that they had til Monday to pay the rest or they will get kicked out Monday no more chances"

1620 hrs Daniel: "Sheesh...! :O I have to run a few errands after I get sis & I can swing by later in the evening with ½ of rent"

1621 hrs Adriana: "at what time do u think so I can let him know"

05-24 1856 hrs Adriana: "waiting for my rise to go to my appointment was wondering if theres ant proper way to dress or is is what I had on fine"

1827 hrs Daniel: "Ur fine"

2010 hrs Adriana: "my dad didn't want to babysit but I called and made an appointment for tomorrow at 10:15"

2013 hrs Daniel: "K"

2014 hrs Adriana: "im sorry for the inconvenience plz dnt be mad"

2015 hrs Daniel: "No worries. Long as ur on top if it"

2016 hrs Adriana: "I am and I will I promise"

2017 hrs Daniel: "K"

05-25 0924 hrs Daniel: "Don't b late for shopping"

0924 hrs Adriana: "im bout to hop in the shower waiting on my ride"

0926 hrs Adriana: "I was thinking about taking a pic"

0926 hrs Daniel: "Oh? :O"

0928 hrs Adriana: whn I go shopping"

0928 hrs Adriana: "whn im ready to go shopping"

0929 hrs Daniel: "As u wish:D"

05-25 1204 hrs Adriana: "we r going shopping"
1207 hrs Daniel: "Alright"
1209 hrs Adriana: "I only got \$40 I thought I would of hd more"

05-25 1354 hrs Adriana: "let me know whn ur here" 1424 hrs Daniel: "Here"

CP 8-10. According to detective Perrault, as stated in the *Determination* of *Probable Cause*, "it appeared that Adriana [Mendez] and Daniel [Blizzard] had decided to use the code word 'shopping' to describe her real estate appointments with Vern [Holbrook]." CP 8. The detective also opined that "Adriana mentioned taking a picture when she went shopping, which may indicate a trophy photograph or a photograph for proof of the deed, which likely would have been taken with her cell phone, and may have been forwarded to the other participants of the scheme." CP 9-10. The *Determination of Probable Cause* document, as penned by Perrault, concluded as follows:

Based on the totality of the circumstances a person of reasonable caution would believe that Daniel Blizzard knowingly promoted and facilitated the plan to murder Vernon Holbrook. Daniel solicited and encouraged

Adriana Mendez and Luis Gomez-Monges to kill Vernon Holbrook. In exchange for monetary benefit, paid by Daniel, Adriana and Luis beat Vernon Holbrook severely, fracturing his head in multiple places. They slit Vern's throat, and left him to die without any provocation. Adriana and Luis acted with premeditated intent, on Daniel's behalf, to cause the death of Vernon Holbrook, and took a substantial step towards the commission of the crime. Due to the use of aliases and false cover stories there was clearly a plan in place to get Vern alone at a residence. Daniel Blizzard did nothing to terminate his complicity, and met with Adriana and Luis after the attack. I request that Daniel Blizzard be charged as an accomplice to attempted first degree murder.

CP 11-12.

2. RELEVANT PROCEDURAL FACTS

A criminal information was filed on 9/18/13 charging Daniel Blizzard with attempted murder in the first degree. CP 14. Mr. Holbrook passed away from the injuries from his attack on January 26, 2014, and the State filed amended charges against Mr. Blizzard on January 30, 2014. CP 37-38.

Three others were also charged: *State v. Jill Taylor*, Yakima Superior Court No. 13-1-01343-1; *State v. Adriana Mendez*, Yakima Superior Court No. 13-1-00795-4; *State v. Luis Gomez-Monges*, Yakima Superior Court No. 13-1-00805-5. Both defendant Taylor and defendant Mendez escaped prosecution for murder. Charges against Ms. Taylor were dismissed *in toto* in exchange for her testimony while Ms. Mendez

was given a deal of assault in the second degree and rendering criminal assistance with credit for time served in exchange for hers. VRP 2469-2470; 2476-2478; 2634-2636; 2675-2677. Defendant Gomez-Monges' trial was scheduled to follow Blizzard's trial. VRP 830; 872.

With respect to pre-trial proceedings, three significant defense pre-trial motions and associated court rulings are relevant to this appeal. The first involved a defense motion to dismiss for prosecutorial misconduct based on Yakima County's elected prosecutor James Hagerty sending an intimidating letter, dated May 21, 2014, to Yakima County's then presiding judge (Judge David Elofson). The letter requested removal of the trial judge, Judge Ruth Reukauf, from the case the weekend before a dispositive defense suppression motion was to be ruled on by the court. CP 832; 833-836; 922-934; 911-921; VRP 455-576. The court denied that motion on July 9, 2014 stating as follows:

"Obviously if these cases proceed forward and they are subject to appellate review, the appellate courts have been doing some interesting things in this area as to what they feel rises to the level of outrageousness that would, in fact, result in structural error."

VRP 572.

The second involved a defense motion to dismiss the seizure of text messages obtained without warrants, and issued without authority of law and without probable cause. CP 115-193; 226-304; 305-328; 405-

417; 589-819; 820-826. VRP 312-430; 606-642. In denying that motion, also on June 9, 2014 immediately after ruling on the intimidating letter from Hagarty, the court stated the following:

Although I'm still conceding that I do not believe the district court had the authority to issue those warrants, that the cell phone companies still chose to release the information pursuant to those warrants, and did not challenge whether district court, in fact, had the authority or not and released the information to detective Perrault. Based upon those cell phone companies choosing to comply with the search warrant, again, I'm just supplementing the record. The information is valid. The defendants' remedy lie [sic] with the cell phone companies and not suppression of the evidence since they did meet that definition.

VRP 634.

The third also involved a defense motion to dismiss based on state misconduct stemming from the Yakima County Jail's confiscation and review of Blizzard's attorney-client communication. CP 197-219; CP 338-364; 365-371; 372-377; 378-381; 382-404; VRP 917-1108; 1130-1160. That motion was denied by the Court. VRP 1181-1209. In denying that motion the court noted that the issue was one that "an appellate court is going to take a serious look at and they should continue to give us guidance." VRP 1209.

The jury found defendant Blizzard guilty of the crime of first degree murder, and also found by special verdict that defendant Blizzard

was armed with a deadly weapon at the time of the commission of the crime. They also found that the defendant or an accomplice should have known that the victim was particularly vulnerable. VRP 3169-3170.

Sentencing occurred on October 30, 2014 and the court imposed a 320 month sentence (high end of the range), 24 months consecutively for the deadly weapon enhancement; and 72 additional months on the vulnerability of the victim. VRP 3218 - 3219. The trial court noted the troublesome issues caused by the prosecutor in the case:

It will be up to the appellate courts to make determinations as to whether this trial court, whether issues that were brought forward based upon discovery that the jail had access to, based upon the elected prosecutor's concerns about this particular trial court and the issues that placed into this case that, quite frankly, someone might ponder the question why, but they're there.

Mr. Blizzard's case, perhaps even more so than Mr. Gomez-Monges' case, is fraught with legal issues. They are going to be difficult legal issues that the appellate court will be charged with the responsibility to sort through.

VRP 3214.

In explaining its sentence, the trial court specifically stated that "I don't want to give anymore fodder, to be blunt, for the appellate court to send this case back." VRP 3219.

3. RELEVANT TRIAL TESTIMONY

a. The Primary Witnesses Were Codefendants Who Escaped Prosecution For Accomplice Liability.

The two primary witnesses against Blizzard were co-defendants Jill Taylor and Adriana Mendez, who were good friends. The two escaped prosecution in exchange for their testimony. Without their testimony the State had no case against Blizzard.

Jill Taylor was Vern Holbrook's ex-daughter in law. Holbrook had helped her out financially, but stopped after a custody dispute with her exhusband. She testified that she dated Daniel Blizzard for 5 years; claimed Daniel would make comments that he was tired of their business deal (between Blizzard and Holbrook) and could not wait until the old man was gone. According to Ms. Taylor, he talked about having him killed so much that Jill Taylor was tired of it. He attempted 2 or 3 times to have Jill give Holbrook poison, which she just threw out. She invited Adriana Mendez to stay with her while Adriana was having trouble at home. When Adriana moved in, she brought her three kids and Luis Gomez-Monges. Adriana came to her on her own and stated that she would kill Holbrook for Blizzard. Taylor testified that she never heard any actual plans, just negotiations. She was testifying in exchange for having the murder charges dropped. VRP 2409, 2410, 2414, 2428, 2429, 2430, 2431, 2436.

Adriana Mendez was a friend of Jill Taylor. She and her three children stayed with Jill at the Lake Aspen apartment. Adriana met Daniel Blizzard through Jill, and over the course of time heard several

conversations about Daniel paying someone \$10,000.00 to kill Vern Holbrook. According to Adriana, she told Daniel she and her boyfriend, Luis Gomez-Monges, were interested in doing it, because they needed the money for her kids and a house, and Luis was soon to be deported. She testified that Daniel suggested they make an appointment to view a property as a reason to meet with Mr. Holbrook. Adriana, Luis and her 3 kids drove to a property to meet Holbrook; the kids stayed in the car while Adriana and Luis went in with Holbrook. As they were looking around the house, Luis punched Holbrook. Adriana was walking out of the room when she saw Luis hit Mr. Holbrook and heard a loud "thump." She went out and waited in the car with her kids, then Luis came out and they drove back to Yakima. She also testified that she lied a lot in her first interview with the police, to protect herself, her kids, Daniel Blizzard and Luis Gomez-Monges. She testified that Daniel told her that he would not take any part in whatever happened after the assault and that he would look out for himself. VRP 2555, 2556, 2560, 2566, 2567, 2572, 2579, 2598-2601, 2606, 2634, 2804. Phone messages obtained through faulty warrants issued from Yakima District Court show several text messages from Mendez's phone to Blizzard's on the day of the attack. VRP 2671-2673, 2986-2988.

II. ARGUMENT

A. IN THIS CASE OF FIRST IMPRESSION, THE PROSECUTOR'S ATTEMPT TO INTIMIDATE THE TRIAL COURT REQUIRES REVERSAL.

The legitimacy of this prosecution is mangled by two extraordinary events: (1) a May 21, 2014 letter from the Yakima County Prosecutor to the criminal presiding judge disparaging the trial judge and asking for recusal for bias; and (2) the court's refusal to remove itself from the case despite the obvious appearance of unfairness and a subsequent ruling on a critical suppression motion favoring the prosecution.

This is an issue of first impression in Washington - i.e., the improper and unethical conduct of an elected prosecutor to influence a trial court judge.

1. Violation of Separation Of Powers.

As explained in *State v. Rice*, 174 Wn.2d 884, 901, 279 P.3d 849 (2012), the separation of powers and division of authority is especially important within the criminal justice system, given the substantial liberty interests at stake and the need for numerous checks against corruption, abuses of power, and other injustices. See also *State v. Pettitt*, 93 Wn.2d 288, 294-95, 609 P.2d 1364 (1980) (noting that a prosecutor's decision to file criminal charges entails " 'awesome consequences' " (quoting *United States v. Lovasco*, 431 U.S. 783, 97 S.Ct. 2044, 52 L.Ed.2d 752 (1977)).

Separation of powers ensures that individuals are charged and punished as criminals "only after a confluence of agreement among multiple governmental authorities, rather than upon the impulses of one central agency." *Id.* at 901. As the Washington Supreme Court explained 100 years ago, legislative authority defines the crimes and sentences; executive power is applied to collect evidence and seek an adjudication of guilt in a particular case; and third, judicial power is exercised to confirm guilt and to impose an appropriate sentence. See *State v. Case*, 88 Wash. 664, 668, 153 P. 1070 (1915). The state constitution grants inherent powers to each separate branch to undertake these functions, including the distinct role of prosecuting attorneys within the executive branch. *Rice*, 174 Wn.2d at 901.

Most importantly, although a violation of the separation of powers doctrine "accrues directly to the branch invaded," the underlying purpose of the doctrine is " 'the protection of institutions,' " *Carrick v. Locke*, 125 Wn.2d 129, 136, 882 P.2d 173 (1994); *Guillen v. Pierce County*, 144 Wn.2d 696, 731, 31 P.3d 628 (2001) (quoting *New York v. United States*, 505 U.S. 144, 181, 112 S.Ct. 2408, 120 L.Ed.2d 120 (1992)). ¹

-

¹ The Washington Supreme Court in *Rice* further noted that "we have reasoned that the " 'division of power among the three branches is violated where one branch invades the territory of another, whether or not the encroached-upon branch approves the encroachment.' " (cites omitted) *Id.* at 901. Although "a long history of cooperation between the branches" in any given context might show that no violation has occurred, (cite omitted)

In this case, the elected prosecutor for Yakima County, James Hagarty, sent an intimidating, four page single-spaced letter, dated May 21, 2014, to the criminal presiding judge (Judge David Elofson), requesting removal of the trial judge, Judge Ruth Reukauf, the weekend before an important suppression motion. VRP 456-457 (05/28/14). The letter was an attack on Judge Reukauf generally, and an attack on two of the defense attorneys in this particular case. It also included a request for her to be removed from this case and any other pending homicide cases in Yakima County. CP 833-836. It complained of Judge Reukauf's rulings in four cases, including Mr. Blizzard's case, and concluded as follows:

Judge Reukauf has an agenda, and that agenda is to discredit my office every chance she gets. It is impossible for the State to get a fair trial in front of her. I am requesting that Judge Reukauf recuse herself from the pending cases involved in the Vern Holbrook murder, and any other pending homicide case, or that you as Chief Judge remove her from these cases in the interest of fairness and justice, and because of a clear and pervasive bias and prejudice against my office. While I suspect my request will fall on deaf ears and there will be some retribution for this letter against my office, I hope that the Yakima County Superior Court will take these matters seriously and strongly consider our request in the interest of justice and fairness.

(

one branch cannot simply consent to a separation of powers violation by another branch. This is especially true regarding a fundamental executive power to be exercised by locally elected officials; such officials cannot cede their inherent authority in order to deflect accountability to voters or when otherwise convenient.

Judge Reukauf's subsequent ruling in favor of the State, which denied suppression of cell phone records and text messages obtained through use of clearly unlawful warrants (discussed *infra*), resulted from the obvious threatening tone of prosecutor Hagarty's letter. To that extent, the prosecutor's egregious misconduct and intimidating tactics affected the trial court.

2. The Prosecutorial Misconduct in This Case Borders on Criminality.

Defense attorney for co-defendant Adriana Mendez, Mickey Krom, raised the issue of criminal intimidation of a judge. VRP 553-554 (06/09/14). It is a crime to intimidate a judge. RCW 9A.72.160 (Intimidating a judge) provides:

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