#### **FILED**

FEB 17, 2016

Court of Appeals Division III State of Washington

NO. 32866-0-III

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION III

OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON, Respondent,

v.

DANIEL BLIZZARD, Appellant.

#### BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

Tamara A. Hanlon, WSBA #28345 Senior Deputy Prosecuting Attorney Attorney for Respondent

JOSEPH BRUSIC Yakima County Prosecuting Attorney 128 N. 2d St. Rm. 329 Yakima, WA 98901-2621

##

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

#### IV. ARGUMENT

A. The trial court's denial of the motion to dismiss regarding the elected prosecutor's letter to the presiding judge was not manifestly unreasonable.

Allegations of prosecutorial misconduct are reviewed under an abuse of discretion standard. State v. Brett, 126 Wn.2d 136, 174-75, 892 P.2d 29 (1995) (citing State v. Hughes, 106 Wn.2d 176, 195, 721 P.2d 902 (1986)). Discretion is abused if the trial court's decision is manifestly unreasonable or is based on untenable grounds. State v. Rohrich, 149 Wn.2d 647, 654, 71 P.3d 638 (2003). Appeals courts will find a decision manifestly unreasonable "if the court, despite applying the correct legal standard to the supported facts, adopts a view 'that no reasonable person would take." Id. (quoting State v. Lewis, 115 Wn.2d 294, 298-99, 797 P.2d 1141 (1990)). A decision is based on untenable grounds "if it rests on facts unsupported in the record or was reached by applying the wrong legal standard." Id.

A trial court's decision on prosecutorial misconduct is given deference on appeal. State v. Luvene, 127 Wn.2d 690, 701, 903 P.2d 960 (1995). This is because the trial court is in the best position to most effectively determine if prosecutorial misconduct prejudiced the defendant's right to a fair trial. Id.

To support dismissal under Criminal Rule (CrR) 8.3(b), the defendant must show by a preponderance of the evidence both (1) arbitrary action or governmental misconduct, and (2) actual prejudice affecting the defendant's right to a fair trial. Rohrich, 149 Wn.2d at 654, 658; State v. Wilson, 149 Wn.2d 1, 9, 65 P.3d 657 (2003). Dismissal under CrR 8.3(b) is an extraordinary remedy that is improper except in truly egregious cases of mismanagement or misconduct that materially prejudice the rights of the accused. State v. Moen, 150 Wn.2d 221, 226, 76 P.3d 721 (2003); Wilson, 149 Wn.2d at 9.

Government conduct may be so outrageous that it exceeds the bounds of fundamental fairness, violates due process, and bars a subsequent prosecution. <u>United States v. Hunt</u>, 171 F.3d 1192, 1195 (8th Cir. 1999); <u>State v. Lively</u>, 130 Wn.2d 1, 18, 921 P.2d 1035 (1996). The level of governmental misconduct needed to prove a violation of due process must shock the conscience of the court and the universal sense of fairness. <u>Hunt</u>, 171 F.3d at 1195; <u>Lively</u>, 130 Wn.2d at 19.

In this case, the elected prosecutor sent a letter to the presiding judge, Judge Elofson, stating that the sitting judge, Judge Reukauf, should recuse herself from the pending cases involving the Vern Holbrook matter. CP 833-6. Blizzard's case was pending at the time. The presiding judge shared the contents of the letter with the trial judge. RP 566. The trial

court found that the letter was an ex parte communication with the trial judge and therefore, misconduct. RP 566. The manner of the communication, not the content, was the basis for the misconduct finding. However, the trial court denied a motion to dismiss, stating that "any prejudice that may still result from this conduct is premature to assess" and "isn't ripe yet" because jury selection had not begun. RP 570, RP 575.

#### 1. There was no actual prejudice.

Assuming, for sake of argument, that Blizzard established arbitrary action or governmental misconduct by a preponderance of the evidence, there was no actual prejudice. On appeal, Blizzard claims that there was an indicator of actual prejudice in that a ruling was made in favor of the State (regarding a suppression issue), and that this favorable ruling to the State resulted solely from prosecutorial misconduct. However, the record was not preserved at the trial level. At the time the CrR 8.3 motion was argued, Blizzard did not claim any actual prejudice. Rather, his argument was that prejudice should be "presumed." RP 539.

After the trial court denied the CrR 8.3 motion and after the trial court ruled in favor of the State on the suppression motion, there was never any argument made that the court ruled in favor of the State solely because of the letter. There was no motion for recusal. Now, for the first

time on appeal, Blizzard claims that there was actual prejudice supporting the CrR 8.3 motion and that this prejudice became apparent when the trial court ruled on the 3.6 motion.

2. Assuming, arguendo, that there was governmental misconduct and resulting prejudice, any prejudice was cured.

Prosecutorial misconduct can be cured. For example, an objection and appropriate instruction can cure prejudice caused by a prosecutor's cross-examination. State v. Stith, 71 Wn. App. 14, 20, 856 P.2d 415 (1993). Even flagrant misconduct can be cured. State v. Emery, 174 Wn.2d 741, 278 P.3d 653 (2012) (citing State v. Warren, 165 Wn.2d 17, 27, 195 P.3d 940 (2008) ("prosecutor's conduct was certainly flagrant," but given the context of the total argument, issues, evidence, and jury instructions, any error was cured)).

Assuming, for sake of argument, that there was governmental misconduct in this case, to the extent that there was any prejudice caused by the letter, it was remedied when the letter was made known to all parties in the case. Had the arguments contained in the letter been filed with the court as part of a formal motion for recusal, there would have been no issue of governmental misconduct. The court, however, considered the letter an ex parte communication with the trial judge because it was sent to the presiding judge without being sent to defense

counsel. RP 566. Any prejudice, however, was remedied when the court disclosing the letter to the parties (both the defense attorneys and the trial prosecutors) and set a deadline for any motions for recusal to be filed. RP 501, CP 831-6. Blizzard's attorney chose not to file a motion for recusal and made a thorough record that he believed that they could have a fair trial before Judge Reukauf. RP 493. As such, any prejudice caused by the letter was cured by the trial judge when she sent the letter to all the parties.

# 3. The prosecutor's actions were not subject to structural error analysis.

Structural error is a type of constitutional error. Here, there was no structural error, let alone, constitutional error. As such, the conduct in this case was not subject to structural error analysis.

#### a. Constitutional Error

Assuming, *arguendo*, that there was any error, the first inquiry is whether the conduct in this case (sending a letter to the presiding judge of the court) touched upon constitutional rights. Blizzard makes references to a violation of separation of powers and the appearance of judicial unfairness. Appellant's Brief at 15-28. In both regards, he argues that the sitting judge, Judge Reukauf, was intimidated by the letter. <u>Id.</u> He argues that one ruling for the State, on the CrR 3.6 issue, resulted from the "obvious threatening tone" of the letter and that the letter constituted

"intimidation of the trial court." <u>Id.</u> However, he agreed that she could be fair, RP 493, and never raised any issue with the court's fairness after the 3.6 ruling was made. Furthermore, Judge Reukauf had no doubt that she could also be fair. RP 496. Blizzard simply has not proven a constitutional error based on the letter and the record before the court.

#### b. Structural Error

There is a strong presumption that errors are not structural. Neder v. United States, 527 U.S. 1, 9, 119 S. Ct. 1827, 144 L. Ed. 2d 35 (1999), cert. denied, 131 S. Ct. 160 (2010). A structural error is rare and courts are hesitant to classify errors as structural. See, e.g., In re Pers. Restraint of Benn, 134 Wn.2d 868, 921, 952 P.2d 116 (1998) (rejecting argument that violation of the right to be present is a structural error). It is an error that "affect[s] the framework within which the trial proceeds" and renders a criminal trial an improper "vehicle for determin[ing] guilt or innocence." Arizona v. Fulminante, 499 U.S. 279, 310, 111 S. Ct. 1246, 113 L. Ed. 2d 302 (1991) (quoting Rose v. Clark, 478 U.S. 570, 578, 106 S. Ct. 3101, 92 L. Ed. 2d 460 (1986)). In other words, the court must ask if the error necessarily rendered the trial fundamentally unfair or an unreliable vehicle for determining guilt or innocence. State v. Momah, 167 Wn.2d 140, 149, 217 P.3d 321 (2009) (internal quotation marks

omitted) (quoting <u>Washington v. Recuenco</u>, 548 U.S. 212, 218-19, 126 S. Ct. 2546, 165 L. Ed. 2d 466 (2006)), <u>cert. denied</u>, 131 S. Ct. 160 (2010)).

It is arguable whether a structural error analysis even applies in the context of prosecutorial misconduct. In <u>State v. Warren</u>, the Supreme Court declined to reach the issue of whether a constitutional error analysis might be appropriate if the prosecutorial misconduct directly violated a constitutional right. 165 Wn.2d 17, 195 P.3d 940 (2008). The Court noted that:

Like most errors, even constitutional ones, it is subject to some sort of harmless error analysis. See Neder v. United States, 527 U.S. 1, 7-8, 119 S. Ct. 1827, 144 L. Ed. 2d 35 (1999) (misstatement of elements subject to harmless error analysis); accord Bartlett v. Battaglia, 453 F.3d 796, 801 (7th Cir. 2006) (declining to extend Sullivan's structural error analysis to prosecutorial argument misstating the burden of proof).

#### 4. In the alternative, there was no structural error.

Assuming, for sake of argument, that structural error analysis applies to this case, which involves a claim of government misconduct, Blizzard has not shown a structural error. Here, the trial court specifically found that there was no structural error. RP 572.

Structural errors encompass only the most egregious constitutional violations. See, e.g., State v. Vreen, 143 Wn.2d 923, 930, 26 P.3d 236

(2001) (denial of peremptory challenge is structural error). As indicated in Johnson v. United States:

Court have found structural errors only in a very limited class of cases. See Gideon v. Wainwright, 372 U.S. 335, 9 L. Ed. 2d 799, 83 S. Ct. 792 (1963) (a total deprivation of the right to counsel); Tumey v. Ohio, 273 U.S. 510, 71 L. Ed. 749, 47 S. Ct. 437 (1927) (lack of an impartial trial judge); Vasquez v. Hillery, 474 U.S. 254, 88 L. Ed. 2d 598, 106 S. Ct. 617 (1986) (unlawful exclusion of grand jurors of defendant's race); McKaskle v. Wiggins, 465 U.S. 168, 79 L. Ed. 2d 122, 104 S. Ct. 944 (1984) (the right to self-representation at trial); Waller v. Georgia, 467 U.S. 39, 81 L. Ed. 2d 31, 104 S. Ct. 2210 (1984) (the right to a public trial); Sullivan v. Louisiana, 508 U.S. 275, 124 L. Ed. 2d 182, 113 S. Ct. 2078 (1993) (erroneous reasonable-doubt instruction to jury).

520 U.S. 461, 468-469, 117 S. Ct. 1544, 137 L. Ed. 2d 718 (1997) (emphasis added).

The conduct alleged in this case (an ex parte communication) does not fall within the limited class of cases outlined in <u>Johnson</u>. The record shows no basis for concluding that the ex parte communication "seriously affected the fairness, integrity or public reputation of judicial proceedings." Here, the communication was made known to all the

parties. RP 501, CP 831-6. Upon learning of the letter or at any point thereafter, Blizzard did not seek recusal of the trial judge. RP 496. There was simply no "miscarriage of justice" warranting reversal. It cannot be said that the conduct rendered the trial fundamentally unfair.

# B. The trial judge properly refused to recuse herself from hearing the case.

#### 1. The State's motion for recusal was withdrawn.

Judge Reukauf sent the letter to the trial prosecutor and defense attorney in this case, and then filed the letter with the clerk. CP 831-836. Thereafter, the State quickly filed a notice of abandonment of the motion for recusal of judge. CP 909-10. The lead prosecutor on the case stated in the notice, "The Deputy Prosecuting Attorney, Alvin Guzman, believes a fair trial can be had before Judge Reukauf in the above captioned case." CP 910. The State, without a doubt, abandoned its motion for recusal of the trial judge. Nonetheless, the trial judge went on to make an independent decision that she was not going to voluntarily recuse and made a thorough record as to her decision. RP 569.

# 2. Blizzard and all three codefendants made no motions for recusal and therefore, waived the issue on appeal.

A litigant who proceeds to trial "knowing of a reason for potential disqualification of the judge waives the objection and cannot challenge the

court's qualifications on appeal." State v. Perala, 132 Wn. App. 98, 113, 130 P.3d 853 (2006) (quoting Buckley v. Snapper Power Equip. Co., 61 Wn. App. 932, 939, 813 P.2d 125 (1991)). Here, Blizzard made no motion for recusal. In fact, he specifically argued to the contrary. He stated, "So it is my opinion that there is no need -- there is no evidence. There is no supporting documents. There's nothing to suggest that this court should recuse itself." RP 493. He agreed that everyone had been treated with fairness:

I've done a couple of cases down here. To say that the courts have treated everyone that appears before them, not only your Honor, but I've been in front of others, too, not for lengthy or serious hearings, but I've always seen everyone treated with respect, integrity, and fairness. One of the jobs of a judge is to call people, lawyers specifically, when they don't do what they were supposed to do. That's the nature of the job. That's why you get paid the big bucks for. That's why you get to take the heat. That's part of the job. That's not bias or prejudice. That's part of you being a judge.

RP 493. Because he agreed that there was no basis for recusal, Blizzard has waived any objections and is now precluded from challenging the court's qualifications on appeal.

## 3. There was no independent basis for the trial judge to recuse herself.

Due process, the appearance of fairness, and Canon 3(D)(1) of the Code of Judicial Conduct require disqualification of a judge who is biased against a party or whose impartiality may be reasonably questioned. State v. Perala, 132 Wn. App. 98, 110-11, 130 P.3d 853 (2006). Recusal lies within the discretion of the trial judge, and his or her decision will not be disturbed without a clear showing of an abuse of that discretion. Id. at 111. The court abuses its discretion when its decision is manifestly unreasonable or is exercised on untenable grounds or for untenable reasons. Id.

"Under the appearance of fairness doctrine, a judicial proceeding is valid only if a reasonably prudent and disinterested observer would conclude that all parties obtained a fair, impartial, and neutral hearing."

Id. at 113. In order to establish that the trial court's involvement in the matter violated the appearance of fairness, the claimant must provide some evidence of the judge's actual or potential bias. State v. Post, 118 Wn.2d 596, 619, 826 P.2d 172 (1992). The critical concern is determining whether a proceeding would appear to be fair to a reasonably prudent and disinterested person. Perala, 132 Wn. App. at 113. The test for determining whether the judge's impartiality might reasonably be

questioned is an objective test that assumes that a reasonable person knows and understands all the relevant facts. Sherman v. State, 128 Wn.2d 164, 206, 905 P.2d 355 (1995).

Here, Blizzard provided no evidence of the judge's actual or potential bias as required by <u>Post</u>. Furthermore, there was no independent basis for the trial judge to recuse herself. The trial judge was very clear that she felt that she could be fair and impartial on the case:

I have absolutely no question in my mind that I can continue to be fair and impartial in this case. I have absolutely no question in my mind that I have been fair and impartial on this case.

RP 496. After making that declaration in open court, she followed up by reviewing the Code of Judicial Conduct and consulting with the Ethics Advisory Committee through the Administrative Office of the Courts. RP 497, 499. The trial judge then explained that if a motion for recusal is being made that it needs to be done so in writing. RP 501. However, no motions were filed by anyone, including Blizzard. Accordingly, the court concluded that the issue had been taken off of the table. RP 518.

4. There was no defense motion to recuse the trial judge after she ruled in favor of the State on the suppression issue.

The defense argue, for the first time on appeal, that the trial judge only ruled in favor of the State because of the "obvious threatening tone of

the letter." Appellant's Brief at 18. However, after that ruling, not one defendant moved to have the judge disqualified or questioned the judge's motive in ruling for the State. The issue was simply never raised until now, for the first time on appeal. As such, the argument is waived.

Perala, 132 Wn. App. at 113 (quoting Buckley v. Snapper Power Equip.

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